

(FR #)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 - AS	SOCIATION RECOGNITION AND SECURITY	1
1.1	Exclusive Bargaining Agent	1
1.2	Recognition of Representatives	1
1.3	Membership in the Union	1
1.4	Payment of Dues	1
1.5	T4 Statements	1
1.6	Occasional Attendance to Union Business	1
1.7	Joint Labour Relations Committee	2
1.8	Union Bargaining Committee	2
1.9	Notice to Supervisor	2
1.10	Processing of Grievances	2
1.11	Unpaid Leave	2
1.12	Seniority	3
ARTICLE 2 - M	ANAGEMENT RIGHTS	3
2.1	Management Rights	3
	SCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT	2
3.1	Human Rights	
3.1	Harassment	
	POINTMENT AND PROMOTION	
4.1	Appointment Categories	
4.2	Probation	
4.3	Vacancies	5
ARTICLE 5 - PE	RFORMANCE REVIEW	5
5.1	Duties and Performance Standards	5
5.2	Ongoing Guidance and Performance Review	5
5.3	Personnel Record	
5.4	No Reliance on Undisclosed Record	6
5.5	Additions to Personnel Record	6
	SCIPLINE AND DISMISSAL	6
6.1	Just and Reasonable Cause	-
6.2	Notice of Disciplinary Meeting / Right of Representation	
6.3	Removal of Document	
	RMINATION OF PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES	
7.1	Termination of a Probationary Employee	6
ARTICLE 8 - GF	RIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION	7
8.1	Informal Resolution	7
8.2	Definition	
8.3	Formal Grievance	
8.4	Grievance Consultation	
8.5	Arbitration	7
8.6	Appointment of Arbitrators	7
8.7	Arbitrator's Authority	8
8.8	Costs	8

	8.9	Time Limits	8	
	8.10	Deviation from Grievance Procedure		
	8.11	3.11 Supervisory Employee's Responsibility		
	8.12	Procedural Errors	8	
ΑΒΤΙΟΙ		DRK SCHEDULING	Q	
ANTICI	9.1	Hours of Work	-	
	9.2	Part-time Work Schedules		
	9.2 9.3	Servicing and Communications Staff		
		-		
ARTIC		OLIDAYS		
	10.1	Designated Holidays		
	10.2	Designated Holiday Replacement Option		
	10.3	Entitlement		
	10.4	Holiday During Vacation		
	10.5	Holiday Break On-Call Status	10	
ARTIC	LE 11 - V	ACATION	11	
	11.1	Vacations	11	
	11.2	Maximum Accumulation of Vacation Days	11	
	11.3	Scheduling of Vacation	12	
ARTIC	LE 12 - M	IATERNITY, PARENTAL AND ADOPTION LEAVE	12	
	12.1	Maternity Leave		
	12.2	, Parental Leave		
	12.3	Benefit Waiting Period		
	12.4	Benefit Waiting Period Allowance		
	12.5	Maternity Leave Allowance		
	12.6	, Parental Leave Allowance		
	12.7	Pre-Placement Adoption Leave		
	12.8	Benefits Continuation		
	12.9	Deemed Resignation		
	12.10	Entitlements Upon Return to Work		
	12.11	Maternity and/or Parental and/or Pre -Adoption Leave Allowance		
	12.12	Benefits Upon Layoff		
ΛΡΤΙΟΙ	E 12 . I E	AVE	15	
ANTICI	13.1	Additional Purchased Leave		
	13.1	Family Illness Leave		
	13.3	General Leave		
	13.4	Bereavement Leave		
	13.4	Leave for Court Appearances		
	13.6	Leave for Medical and Dental Appointments		
	13.7	Leave Respecting Death of Child		
	13.7	Leave Respecting Death of Child		
	13.8 13.9	Compassionate Care Leave		
	13.9	Political Leave		
ARTIC		EALTH AND WELFARE		
	14.1	Medical Services Plan		
	14.2	Dental Plan	19	

14.3	Extended Health Care	.19
14.4	Health Savings Account	.19
14.5	Insurance	.19
14.6	Weekly Indemnity/Salary Maintenance/Long-Term Disability	.20
14.7	Pensions	.20
14.8	Accident Insurance	.21
14.9	Employee and Family Assistance Program	.21
ARTICLE 15 - GI	ENERAL CONDITIONS	. 21
15.1	Computer Display Terminals	.21
15.2	Notice of Termination	.21
15.3	Outside Work	.21
15.4	Indemnity	.21
15.5	Professional Development	.22
ARTICLE 16 - SA	ALARIES AND ALLOWANCES	
16.1	Salaries	
16.2	Salary Supplements	.22
16.3	Overtime: Administrative Staff	.23
16.4	Overtime: Servicing Staff and Communications Staff	.23
16.5	Travel Expenses	.23
16.6	Substitution Pay	.23
16.7	Layoff Benefits	.23
16.8	Layoff and Recall Options	
16.9	Salary Calculations for Partial Pay Period	
16.10	Retirement	
16.11	Computer or Home Office Equipment Purchase	
16.12	Parking	.25
16.13	Vehicle Insurance	
16.14	Law Society Fees	.26
16.15	Fitness Equipment Purchase	.26
16.16	Access to Employee Advance for Computer and Fitness Purchase	.26
16.17	Remote Work Assessment	.26
ARTICLE 17 - BA	ARGAINING UNIT WORK	. 27
17.1	Bargaining Unit Work	.27
ARTICLE 18 - TE	RM OF AGREEMENT	. 27
18.1	Term of Agreement	.27
18.2	Effective Date	27
SCHEDULE 1 SA	LARIES	. 29
SCHEDULE1-A	SALARY SUPPLEMENTS	. 30
LETTER OF UND	DERSTANDING 1 - RE: DEFERRED SALARY LEAVE PLAN	. 31
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 2 - RE: SUPPLEMENTAL FOR LEAVES		
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 3 - RE: AMALGAMATION AND MERGER		
LETTER OF UND	DERSTANDING 4 - RE: QUALIFICATION PERIOD FOR HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS	. 36
LETTER OF UND	DERSTANDING 5 - RE: CELL PHONE POLICY	. 37

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 6 - RE: FRIDAY OFFICE CLOSURE PILOT	38
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 7 - RE: COST OF LIVING ADJUSTMENTS	39

ARTICLE 1 - ASSOCIATION RECOGNITION AND SECURITY

Part "A" Bargaining Agent

1.1 Exclusive Bargaining Agent

The Professional Employees Association ("*The Employer*") recognizes BCUWU ("*The Union*") as the exclusive bargaining agent for all employees for whom the union has been certified as bargaining agent, in accordance with the order of the British Columbia Labour Relations Board dated September 14, 2001, or as subsequently amended by the Board or by mutual consent of the parties.

1.2 Recognition of Representatives

The union shall notify the employer of the names and jurisdiction of all union representatives and members of joint committees, and any changes thereto. Union staff and counsel shall have access to the employer's premises in order to deal with any matters arising out of this agreement.

Part "B" – Union Security

1.3 Membership in the Union

(a) All employees in the bargaining unit who on September 14, 2001 were members of the union or thereafter become members of the union shall, as a condition of continued employment, maintain such membership (subject only to the provisions of Section 17 of the *Labour Relations Code 1999*).

(b) All employees hired on or after September 14, 2001 shall, as a condition of continued employment, become members of the union, and maintain such membership, upon completion of 30 days as an employee (subject only to the provisions of Section 17 of the *Labour Relations Code 1999*).

Part "C" – Check Off of Union Dues

1.4 Payment of Dues

Subject to the provisions of Section 17 of the *Labour Relations Code 1999* it is a condition of employment for all members of the bargaining unit to complete an authorization form providing for the deduction from salary of such fees, dues, and assessments as the union may require. Upon receipt of written authorization signed by the employee, the employer shall deduct monthly the amount of such fees, dues, and assessments from the salary payable to employees and remit such fees, dues, and assessments to the union within 10 days of the end of each month.

1.5 T4 Statements

The employer shall indicate on the employee's Statement of Remuneration Paid (T4) the eligible deductions paid to the union, subject to the provisions of the *Income Tax Act* and applicable regulations as periodically revised.

Part "D" – Leave for Union Business

1.6 Occasional Attendance to Union Business

It is expected that all union business, including but not limited to, general membership and executive meetings, BCUWU or BC Federation of Labour Conventions and other committee meetings, will be scheduled to avoid conflict with the participant's normal work schedules.

Provided, however, that there is no interference with the employer's operation or with the performance of the employee's duties, the employer agrees that a union representative may attend to union business without a loss of salary during employer working hours up to 15 hours per calendar year.

Any other attendance to union business during employer operating hours may be approved where a request for a leave of absence without salary has been submitted in accordance with Clause 1.11.

1.7 Joint Labour Relations Committee

(a) The parties agree to establish a Joint Labour Relations Committee consisting of two members representing the employer and two members representing the union. All time associated with attending these meetings will be without loss of salary or benefits to the committee members.

(b) Joint Labour Relations Committee members will be allowed reasonable flexibility in their workplace schedule to conduct the business of the committee.

- (c) Meetings of the committee will be scheduled once per calendar year or at the request of either party.
- (d) Minutes of the meeting shall provide an overview of each agenda item and the resulting action or decision.

1.8 Union Bargaining Committee

To a maximum of two persons, the employer agrees to provide sufficient flexibility in work schedules and work priorities to permit members representing the union on the union's bargaining committee to participate in collective bargaining without loss of salary or benefits. Time spent in the collective bargaining process during regular business hours shall be considered as time worked.

1.9 Notice to Supervisor

Employees wishing to leave their normal place of work to engage in joint employer/union business shall inform their supervisor, as soon as possible. The absence shall be approved if, in the supervisor's reasonable judgment, such absence would not interfere with the satisfactory and timely performance of the employee's normal employer duties.

1.10 Processing of Grievances

The employer acknowledges the right of union representatives to assist in investigation, processing and settlement of grievances and potential grievances without loss of salary, subject to satisfactory performance of employer duties. Time spent by employees discussing grievances or appearing before an arbitration hearing arising from this agreement shall be without loss of salary.

1.11 Unpaid Leave

Leave of absence without salary may be granted to designated representatives of the union to transact union business which cannot be accommodated within the provisions of Clauses 1.6 to 1.9, inclusive. The union will provide reasonable notice of any request pursuant to this section. Such requests will normally be granted unless, in the reasonable opinion of the employee's supervisor the absence would interfere with the satisfactory and timely performance of the employee's duties. When unsalaried leave is granted under this article the employer shall maintain the employee's normal salary and related benefits and the union shall reimburse the employer for such salary and benefit costs in a timely fashion.

1.12 Seniority

Service Seniority shall mean the total length of continuous service with the PEA. Such service will include temporary service that can be bridged by gaps in employment of 12 months or less. Seniority shall be used in determination of layoff, recall and vacation preferences. Employees who voluntarily terminate cannot bridge their seniority if re-employed within the 12 months.

ARTICLE 2 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

2.1 Management Rights

The right to manage operations and to direct employees is retained by the employer except as this agreement otherwise specifies.

ARTICLE 3 - DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT

3.1 Human Rights

(a) The parties agree that there will be no discrimination, interference, restriction, or coercion exercised or practiced with respect to any employee because of age, race, colour, ancestry, place of origin, political belief, religion, marital status, family status, physical or mental disability, sex, or sexual orientation of the employee, or because the employee has been convicted of a criminal or summary conviction offence that is unrelated to the employee's employment, or by reason of any other prohibited grounds stipulated in the *British Columbia Human Rights Act*. This article shall not apply to any personnel benefits that have been mutually accepted by the parties or which make actuarial distinctions on the basis of age, or to appointments or any accommodation made under a mutually agreed employment equity program.

(b) The employer agrees that there shall be no discrimination against any employee for lawful activities on behalf of the union.

3.2 Harassment

The employer and the union share a mutual desire to prevent harassment in the workplace. The employer will assist employees who feel harassed by any PEA member(s) by providing mediation or a dispute resolution system to resolve the problem between the employee and the PEA member. Harassment does not include actions occasioned through the exercise, in good faith, of the employer's managerial/supervisory rights and responsibilities.

ARTICLE 4 - APPOINTMENT AND PROMOTION

Part "A" – Types of Appointments

4.1 Appointment Categories

Appointments held by members of the bargaining unit shall be specified as being either a regular appointment, a term appointment or a casual appointment.

All employees, including those on a casual appointment, will be considered bargaining unit members.

(a)

Regular and term appointments may be either full-time or part-time. A regular appointment normally carries the expectation of continuation of employment until normal retirement age, subject to the provisions of Article 6 and Clause 16.7, and provided the employee's competence and performance continue to meet appropriate evaluation criteria. Term appointments carry no expectation of employment subsequent to the expiry of the stated term.

A term appointment shall normally not be longer than three years in duration. However, the parties may mutually agree to an extension of a term appointment beyond three years in duration on a case-by-case basis. Agreement to extend an appointment beyond three years shall not be reasonably withheld by either party.

(b) Casual Appointments

Casual appointments are designed to provide existing bargaining unit position coverage for defined project-specific work or coverage for unexpected workload. Casual appointments are a time-limited duration where hours of work are inconsistent.

Casual employees will be covered by all articles of the collective agreement, except the following:

Clause 4.2 – Probation Clause 4.3 – Vacancies Article 9 – Work Scheduling Article 10 – Holidays Article 11 - Vacation Article 12 – Maternity, Parental and Adoption Leave Article 13 – Leave Clause 14.1 – Medical Services Plan Clause 14.2 – Dental Plan Clause 14.3 – Extended Health Leave Clause 14.4 – Health Spending Account Clause 14.5 – Insurance Clause 14.6 – Weekly Indemnity/Salary Maintenance/Long-Term Disability Clause 14.7 – Pensions Clause 14.9 - Employee and Family Assistance Clause 15.1 – Computer Display Terminals Clause 15.2 – Notice of Termination Clause 15.3 – Outside Work Clause 15.5 – Professional Development Clause 16.2 – Salary Supplements Clause 16.4 – Overtime: Servicing Staff Clause 16.6 – Substitution Pay Clause 16.7 – Layoff Benefits Clause 16.8 – Layoff and Recall Options Clause 16.11 – Computer Equipment Purchase Clause 16.14 – Law Society Fees Clause 16.15 – Fitness Equipment Purchase Clause 16.16 – Access to Employee Advance for Computer and Fitness Purchase LOU 1 – Deferred Salary Plan

Page 4

LOU 2 – Supplemental for Leaves

- LOU 3 Amalgamation and Merger
- LOU 4 Qualification Period for Health and Welfare Benefits
- LOU 5 Cell Phone Policy

Casual employees will be entitled to their classifications' hourly rate (yearly salary divided by 1820 hours) plus 13% in lieu of benefits.

Casual employees will serve a probation period of 910 hours worked. Probation may be extended at the discretion of the Executive Director following consultation with the Union.

Regardless of classification, casual employees will accrue overtime as per the formula in Clause 16.3. Overtime must be approved in advance by the Executive Director or designate.

4.2 Probation

(a) Appointments will normally be subject to a probationary period of six months. A period of probation may be extended at the discretion of the Executive Director following consultation with the union.

(b) Where a probationary employee is granted leave exceeding one month, the probationary period may be extended by an equal period Completion of a probationary appointment will normally result in either a regular or term appointment, unless the employee is terminated as provided for in Article 6 or Article 7.

Part "B" – Appointment and Promotion Procedures

4.3 Vacancies

Any vacant position shall be made available to all current employees prior to external individuals being recruited to fill the vacancy.

ARTICLE 5 - PERFORMANCE REVIEW

5.1 Duties and Performance Standards

The union acknowledges the employer has the authority and responsibility to define the duties of a position and to set performance standards and is the final judge of the employee's performance. Such judgment shall be exercised in a manner that is fair, reasonable and equitable.

5.2 Ongoing Guidance and Performance Review

To promote the achievement and maintenance of satisfactory work performance by employees, supervisors are responsible for providing regular, on-going review of their performance throughout the year.

5.3 Personnel Record

(a) Documents relevant to the employment of employees at the employer shall be included in the employee's personnel record.

(b) Each employee or, with the employee's prior written consent, a union representative shall, upon request, have reasonable access to an employee's personnel record during normal employer business hours. An employee shall, on written request, be provided with copies of documents contained in the employee's personnel record.

5.4 No Reliance on Undisclosed Record

In any grievance or arbitration related to an employee's discipline the parties agree that they will not rely on any record whose existence has not been disclosed to the other party.

5.5 Additions to Personnel Record

Employees shall be copied on any documents relating to their performance which are placed in their personnel record. Employees may provide written comment to be included with the document on their personnel record.

ARTICLE 6 - DISCIPLINE AND DISMISSAL

6.1 Just and Reasonable Cause

The employer may discipline or dismiss an employee for just and reasonable cause. The employer bears the burden of proving just and reasonable cause in every case.

6.2 Notice of Disciplinary Meeting / Right of Representation

Where the employer intends to investigate an employee for a purpose that may result in discipline, it shall notify the employee of that intent, provide advance notice of at least one working day, and advise the employee of the right to have a union representative present. The employee and the union bear the responsibility of ensuring that a representative is available to attend the scheduled meeting. No undue delay shall result from unavailability of such representation.

A union representative will be present at all disciplinary meetings except in the case of serious employment misconduct where immediate action is warranted.

In the event of serious misconduct, the notice requirements of this article shall not apply if immediate action is required to respond to the misconduct, however, the employer will make a reasonable effort to have a union representative present at any initial meeting.

6.3 Removal of Document

An employee may request in writing that documentation of discipline imposed against the employee shall be destroyed. On receipt of such a request, the employer shall remove such documentation provided that:

- (a) 12 months have passed since the discipline was imposed, and
- (b) the employee has not committed a further disciplinary offence during that time, and
- (c) the offence did not result in suspension of five days or more.

For offenses resulting in suspension of five days or more, the request would be considered on its merits and, if denied, may be resubmitted annually.

ARTICLE 7 - TERMINATION OF PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES

7.1 Termination of a Probationary Employee

The employer may terminate a probationary employee on the basis of unsuitability for continued employment in the position, provided that the factors involved can reasonably be expected to affect work performance. Termination of a probationary employee in accordance with this article shall not be regarded as discipline or dismissal for the purposes of Article 6.

ARTICLE 8 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION

8.1 Informal Resolution

The parties agree that disputes can frequently be resolved by informal discussion between the parties or between employees and their immediate supervisors. Before a grievance is initiated, an employee shall seek an informal resolution of the dispute with the immediate supervisor, and if the employee desires, with a union representative in attendance. An informal resolution of a dispute shall not be used as a precedent by either party.

Part "A" – Grievance Procedure

8.2 Definition

The employer and the union recognize that grievances may arise from:

- (a) differences between the parties about the interpretation, application, operation or alleged violation of this agreement, including a question as to whether or not a matter is arbitrable; or
- (b) the dismissal or discipline of an employee.

For the purposes of this agreement, such disputes constitute grievances.

8.3 Formal Grievance

If an informal resolution of a grievance is not possible, the union may submit the grievance in writing to the representative designated by the employer to receive grievances. The grievance shall specify the article(s) of the agreement on which the grievance relies, and the remedy sought. A copy of the grievance must be filed within I5 working days after the date:

(a) on which the employee was notified orally or in writing of the action(s) or circumstance(s) giving rise to the grievance, or,

(b) on which the employee first became aware of the action(s) or circumstance(s) giving rise to the grievance.

Within 15 working days of receipt of the grievance, a representative designated by the employer shall respond in writing.

8.4 Grievance Consultation

The parties agree to make every effort to settle grievances prior to arbitration.

Part "B" – Arbitration Procedure

8.5 Arbitration

If the union is dissatisfied with the response provided under Clause 8.3, or the outcome under Clause 8.4, the union may notify the employer, in writing, within 15 days of the employer's response under Clause 8.3 that it wishes to submit the grievance to binding arbitration.

8.6 Appointment of Arbitrators

The parties shall select an arbitrator by mutual agreement. The selection shall be made within 10 days of the union's notification under Clause 8.5.

An arbitrator shall not have the power to alter, modify, or amend any of the provisions of this agreement. The decision of an arbitrator shall be final and binding on both parties and on employee(s) affected by it.

8.8 Costs

Each party shall pay one-half of the arbitrator's fees and expenses.

Part "C" - General

8.9 Time Limits

The employer and the union agree that timely resolution of grievances is in the best interest of all parties. In the spirit of this agreement, each party undertakes to notify the other promptly if it expects difficulty in meeting prescribed time limits. If necessary, time limits stipulated in this article may be waived or extended by mutual written consent.

8.10 Deviation from Grievance Procedure

(a) The employer agrees that after a grievance is filed by the union under Clause 8.3, employer representatives will not enter into discussions or negotiations with the aggrieved employee(s) about the grievance without the union's consent.

(b) If, having initiated a grievance under Clause 8.3, an employee endeavours to pursue the same grievance through any other channel, the union agrees that the grievance shall be considered to have been abandoned, and may not be resubmitted.

8.11 Supervisory Employee's Responsibility

If a grievance arises from the exercise of managerial or supervisory authority by any employee, the union agrees both that the employee's first responsibility is to the employer and that it will not attempt in any way to influence the employee.

8.12 Procedural Errors

The parties intend that a grievance will not necessarily be invalidated due only to one or more procedural errors, always provided that such errors have no bearing on the substance of the grievance. Time limits, however, may only be waived or extended by the mutual written consent of the parties.

ARTICLE 9 - WORK SCHEDULING

9.1 Hours of Work

(a) Normal office hours are 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., Monday to Friday. Normal lunch break is one-half hour.

(b) Lunch breaks are scheduled so that the office is staffed throughout normal office hours. Employees may take a lunch period of up to one hour and adjust their normal working hours beyond the normal office hours.

- (c) Normal hours of work are 105 hours in a three-week schedule, excluding lunch breaks.
- (d) Employees are entitled to two 15-minute coffee breaks per day.

(e) Full-time employees may earn one day off during each three-week work schedule, on the basis of one one-half hour credit for each completed workday, including statutory holidays. Fourteen such credits are required to earn one day off.

(f) Part-time staff may earn flex time by establishing an agreed-to flex schedule with the employer.

(g) Employees' earned days off may be banked to a maximum of 10 days annually. Employees shall make reasonable efforts to schedule earned days off during each calendar year but scheduling of such days is strictly subject to operational requirements. An employee's bank of earned days off shall not exceed 20 days at any time. Unused earned days off shall be paid out annually. Days off may not be taken until they are earned. Credits insufficient to earn a complete day off may be carried forward into a subsequent schedule period.

9.2 Part-time Work Schedules

Any employee working less than one full FTE shall meet with the employer to establish an agreed-to work schedule. For servicing and communications staff only, the schedule will remain flexible to accommodate work scheduled outside of the agreed-to hours.

9.3 Servicing and Communications Staff

In this agreement "*servicing staff*" means the Senior Labour Relations Officer, Labour Relations Officers and Labour Relations and Member Development Officer. Communications staff means the Communications Officer and Senior Communications Officer.

For servicing staff and communications staff, core hours of work are to coincide as much as possible with normal office hours. Due to the nature of duties, however, work schedules are to remain flexible for servicing staff and communications staff and notwithstanding 9.1(a) normal office hours are defined as between 7:30 am and 5:30 pm, Monday to Friday.

Servicing and communications staff may request approval for telework. Such requests will not be unreasonably denied, but are subject to operational requirements.

ARTICLE 10 - HOLIDAYS

10.1 Designated Holidays

The following days are designated as paid holidays:

- New Year's Day
- Family Day
- Good Friday
- Easter Monday
- Victoria Day
- Canada Day
- B.C. Day
- Labour Day
- National Day for Truth and Reconciliation
- Thanksgiving Day
- Remembrance Day
- Christmas Day

Boxing Day

as well as any other day proclaimed as a general holiday by the Government of Canada or by the Government of British Columbia, or after consultation with the union, any day observed by the employer in lieu of such a day.

Servicing and Communications staff who are assigned work on Labour Day may bank the time worked to be used within one year of the date the time was worked.

10.2 Designated Holiday Replacement Option

In each calendar year, an employee may designate up to two replacement statutory holidays to align with days of cultural or religious significance to that employee. These replacement statutory holidays must replace statutory holidays named in Clause 10.1.

Each year, on or before January 15th, the employee shall provide written notice to the Employer that includes the following:

- 1. Clearly state the named statutory holiday(s) to be replaced.
- 2. Clearly state the replacement dates of cultural and/or religious significance where known.

Replacement statutory holiday(s) will not be amendable until the following year. Replacement statutory holiday(s) maintain all rights associated with statutory holidays as defined throughout the collective agreement.

(a) The statutory holiday(s) that are replaced from Clause 10.1 will become a regular day, whether it be a work day or a day of rest, and will not attract any additional benefit previously attributable to it as a statutory holiday. All such benefit will be transferred to the replacement statutory holiday(s).

(b) Where the Employer does not provide service on a day described under (a) above, and where the employee is scheduled to work on that day, the Employer will make reasonable efforts to provide meaningful work to the employee. Where this is not operationally feasible the employee may access available leave to cover the missed day of work.

10.3 Entitlement

Full-time employees shall be entitled to the above holidays at their regular salary. Regular part-time employees shall be paid their regular salary and receive a prorated amount of time off. Employees will have the option at the time of the holiday to make up the difference between the amount of time off and the time scheduled or to be paid at the pro-rated rate.

10.4 Holiday During Vacation

When an employee is on annual vacation and a paid holiday occurs during that period, the paid holiday shall not count as a day of vacation.

10.5 Holiday Break On-Call Status

During the December 24 – January 2 period, a Labour Relations Officer (LRO) will be designated on-call when no LRO is available or present in the office.

An LRO who is designated on-call will be compensated with two hours of vacation added to their vacation bank for each day of on-call status.

The Labour Relations Officer will remain in the city when on on-call status and will be available to respond in-person, where required. Any time spent performing work will be paid in addition to the two hours of vacation for on-call status.

ARTICLE 11 - VACATION

11.1 Vacations

(a) Annual Vacations

(1) All employees are entitled to four weeks of annual vacation. Part-time employees' vacation entitlement is calculated on a pro-rated basis in relationship to the percentage of full-time hours worked.

(2) An employee earns vacation for each month of service in which the employee earns 10 days pay at straight time rates based on the following table.

Days paid under Clause 14.6 – Weekly Indemnity/Salary Maintenance/Long Term Disability will not be used in the calculation for annual vacation.

Annual Entitlement	Monthly Equivalent
4 weeks	1.6667 days
5 weeks	2.0833 days
6 weeks	2.5000 days
7 weeks	2.9167 days

(b) Annual Vacation Entitlement Increases

Effective January I, 2009, vacation entitlement shall increase by the following additional vacation days for years of continuous service:

Years	Additional Days Per Year
After 5	5
After 10	10
After 15	15

(c) Payment of Vacation on Termination

(1) On termination, an employee will be paid for unused earned vacation except as provided for under Clause 16.10 - Retirement.

(2) An employee who terminates their employment and has taken more vacation in a vacation year than is outlined in 11.1(a)(2) shall be required to reimburse the employer for the unearned vacation.

11.2 Maximum Accumulation of Vacation Days

Normally employees will take their earned vacation entitlement by December 31 of the year following the year in which it was earned. Total accumulated vacation days at December 31 of each calendar year may not

exceed 20 days. Any unused vacation of more than 20 days shall be paid out annually unless the employee was unable to schedule vacation due to operational reasons.

11.3 Scheduling of Vacation

Vacation scheduling is subject to operational requirements.

Employees shall schedule their vacations by mutual agreement with their supervisors, who shall ensure that a monthly vacation credit and debit record for each employee is maintained.

In the event that a conflict in first choice of vacation occurs, the senior employee shall be granted their vacation.

ARTICLE 12 - MATERNITY, PARENTAL AND ADOPTION LEAVE

12.1 Maternity Leave

(a) An employee is entitled to maternity leave of up to 15 consecutive weeks without pay.

(b) An employee shall notify the employer in writing of the expected date of the birth. Such notice will be given at least 10 weeks prior to the expected date of the birth.

12.2 Parental Leave

(a) Upon written request an employee shall be entitled to opt for either standard parental leave of up to 35 consecutive weeks without pay or extended parental leave of up to 61 consecutive weeks without pay. The leave period may be extended by an additional five weeks where the employee's claim is extended pursuant to Section 12(7) of the *Employment Insurance Act*. The employee's election of either standard or extended parental leave may be revised on a one-time basis. An employee may opt to return to work prior to the end of the leave.

(b) Where both parents are employees of the employer, the employees shall determine the apportionment of the 35 or 61 weeks' parental leave between them.

(c) Such written request pursuant to (a) above must be made at least four weeks prior to the proposed leave commencement date, changing the standard or extended election or returning to work prior to the original end of leave date.

(d) Leave taken under this article shall commence:

(1) In the case of a mother, immediately following the conclusion of leave taken pursuant to Clause 12.1 or 12.3; or

(2) In the case of the other parent, immediately following the birth or placement of the adoptive child;

(3) The commencement of the leave taken pursuant to (1) or (2) above may be deferred by mutual agreement, however, for employees who choose the standard parental leave, the leave must conclude within the 52-week period after the date of birth or placement of the adoptive child. Such agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld. For employees who choose extended leave, the leave must conclude within the 78-week period after the birth or placement of the adoptive child.

Such leave request must be supported by appropriate documentation.

Where an employee is entitled to and takes leave pursuant to Clause 12.1 and/or 12.2 and is required by Employment Insurance to serve a one week waiting period for Employment Insurance Maternity/Parental benefits, the employee will be entitled to a leave of one week without pay immediately before leaves pursuant to Clause 12.1 or 12.2 as the case may be.

This leave is for the express purpose of covering the Employment Insurance benefit waiting period.

12.4 Benefit Waiting Period Allowance

(a) An employee who qualifies for and takes leave pursuant to Clause 12.3 shall be paid a leave allowance equivalent to one week at 100% of the employee's basic pay.

(b) An employee who qualifies for and takes leave pursuant to Clause 12.1 or 12.2 and takes the maximum leave entitlement shall be provided one week of additional leave paid at 100% of the employee's basic salary.

12.5 Maternity Leave Allowance

(a) An employee who qualifies for maternity leave pursuant to Clause 12.1 shall be paid a maternity leave allowance in accordance with the Supplemental Unemployment Benefit (SUB) Plan, as set out in Letter of Understanding 2. In order to receive this allowance, the employee must provide to the employer proof that the employee has applied for and is eligible to receive employment insurance benefits pursuant to the *Employment Insurance Act*. An employee disentitled or disqualified from receiving employment insurance benefits is not eligible for maternity leave allowance.

(b) Pursuant to the Supplemental Unemployment Benefit (SUB) Plan, the maternity leave allowance will consist of 15 weekly payments, equivalent to the difference between the employment insurance gross benefits and any other earnings received by the employee and 85% of the employee's basic pay.

12.6 Parental Leave Allowance

(a) An employee who qualifies for parental leave pursuant to Clause 12.2, shall be paid a parental leave allowance in accordance with the Supplemental Unemployment Benefit (SUB) Plan. In order to receive this allowance, the employee must provide to the employer proof of application and eligibility to receive employment insurance benefits pursuant to the *Employment Insurance Act*. An employee disentitled or disqualified from receiving employment insurance benefits is not eligible for parental leave allowance.

(b) Pursuant to the Supplemental Unemployment Benefit (SUB) Plan and subject to leave apportionment pursuant to Clause 12.2(b), for those who opt for the standard parental leave, the standard parental leave allowance will consist of a maximum of 35 weekly payments, equivalent to the difference between the employment insurance gross benefits and any other earnings received by the employee and 75% of the employee's basic pay.

(c) Pursuant to the Supplemental Unemployment Benefit (SUB) Plan, for those who opt for the extended parental leave, the extended parental leave allowance will consist of a maximum of 61 weekly payments, equivalent to the overall amount the employee would have received with 35 weekly payments under the standard parental leave allowance. Where both parents are employees, they shall determine the apportionment of the 35 weekly payments spread out over the 61 weeks extended parental leave between them.

(d) Once the standard or extended parental leave weekly top up allowance is set, it will not be changed, except where an employee exercises their entitlement to one change between standard and extended leave as per Clause 12.2(a). No retroactive payments will be made where an employee changes their election from extended parental leave to standard parental leave.

12.7 Pre-Placement Adoption Leave

Upon request and with appropriate documentation, an employee is entitled to pre-adoption leave without pay of up to seven weeks (245 work hours) per calendar year with an allowance of 85% of their basic pay during the leave period.

The leave may be taken intermittently and only for the purpose of:

(a) attending mandatory pre-placement visits with the prospective adoptive child;

(b) to complete the legal process required by the child's or children's country for an international adoption while the employee is in that country.

Leave under this provision will end with the placement of the adoptive child(ren) and may not be used for an employee to travel.

Pre-placement visits are not normally required where the adoption is a direct placement. Examples of direct placement adoptions are

- (a) adoptions by a family member;
- (b) adoptions by the partner of a birth parent;

(c) adoptions by foster parents if the child or children were living with the foster parents immediately before the adoption process.

12.8 Benefits Continuation

(a) For leaves taken pursuant to Clauses 12.1, 12.2, 12.3 and 12.7, the employer shall maintain coverage for medical, extended health, dental, group life and long-term disability, and shall pay the employer's share of these premiums

(b) Notwithstanding (a) above, should an employee be deemed to have resigned in accordance with Clause 12.9 or fail to remain in the employ of the employer for at least six months or a period equivalent to the leave taken at (a) above, whichever is longer, after their return to work, the employer will recover monies paid pursuant to this article, on a pro-rata basis.

12.9 Deemed Resignation

An employee shall be deemed to have resigned on the date upon which leave pursuant to Clauses 12.1, 12.2, 12.3 or 12.7 commenced unless the employee advised the employer of the intent to return to work one month prior to the expiration of the leave taken pursuant to Article 12 - Maternity, Parental and Adoption Leave or if the employee does not return to work after having given such advice.

12.10 Entitlements Upon Return to Work

(a) An employee who returns to work after the expiration of maternity, parental or pre-adoption leaves shall retain the seniority the employee had accumulated prior to commencing the leave and shall be credited with seniority for the period of time covered by the leave.

(b) On return from maternity, parental, adoption or pre-adoption leaves, an employee shall be placed in the employee's former position or in a position of equal rank and basic pay.

(c) Notwithstanding Clauses 11.1 and 11.2, vacation entitlements and vacation pay shall continue to accrue while an employee is on leave pursuant to Clauses 12.1 and its waiting period, providing:

- (1) the employee returns to work for a period of not less than six months; and
- (2) the employee has not received parental allowance pursuant to Clause 12.6;

Vacation earned pursuant to this article may be carried over to the following year, notwithstanding Clause 11.2.

(d) Employees who are unable to complete the return-to-work period in (c) as a result of proceeding on maternity, parental or pre-adoption leave shall be credited with their earned vacation entitlements and vacation pay providing the employee returns to work for a period of not less than six months following the expiration of the subsequent maternity, parental or pre-adoption leave.

12.11 Maternity and/or Parental and/or Pre -Adoption Leave Allowance

(a) To be entitled to the maternity, parental, benefit waiting period and/or pre -adoption leave allowances pursuant to Clauses 12.4, 12.5, 12.6 and/or 12.7, an employee must sign an agreement that the employee will return to work and remain in the employer's employ for a period of at least six months or equivalent to the leaves taken, whichever is longer, after returning to work.

(b) Should the employee fail to return to work and remain in the employ of the employer for the returnto-work period in (a) above, the employee shall reimburse the employer for the maternity, parental, benefit waiting period and/or pre-adoption leave allowance received under Clauses 12.4, 12.5, 12.6 and/or 12.7 above on a pro -rata basis.

12.12 Benefits Upon Layoff

Regular employees who have completed three months of service and are receiving an allowance pursuant to Clauses 12.4, 12.5 and/or 12.6 shall continue to receive that allowance upon layoff, until the allowance has been exhausted, provided the notice of layoff is given after the commencement of the leave.

ARTICLE 13 - LEAVE

13.1 Additional Purchased Leave

The Senior Labour Relations Officer and Labour Relations Officer may convert up to 6% of salary to additional vacation, provided that the designation of 6% as vacation can be made at any time during the calendar year on a pro-rata basis with the proviso that such additional vacation is subject to agreement on scheduling by the employee and the Executive Director.

Conversion of salary to leave is on the basis of 0.00383 of annual salary for each day of leave purchased. It is the expectation of the employer and the union that this provision will not be used to accumulate vacation carry-over.

13.2 Family Illness Leave

Employees are entitled to paid leave for the purpose of caring for an ill child, spouse or dependent parent who resides in the employee's home when no other adult in the household is available to provide care. Such leave is granted to a maximum of five days per calendar year. A part-time employee is entitled to paid leave

for the number of hours the employee was scheduled to work on the day(s) she or he is caring for an ill child, except where the employee works on an on-call basis, and a day displaced by family illness is rescheduled.

13.3 General Leave

(a) The employer may grant an employee leave of absence with pay up to 70 hours per calendar year for purposes other than those specified elsewhere in this agreement, except 13.2 which is included in the 70 hours, as follows

- (1) wedding of the employee three days; effective April 1, 2015 two days;
- (2) attend wedding of the employee's child one day;
- (3) adoption of the employee's child two days;
- (4) birth of the employee's child two days;
- (5) serious household or domestic emergency one day;
- (6) moving household furniture and effects one day;
- (7) attend their formal hearing to become a Canadian citizen one day;
- (8) attend funeral as pall-bearer or mourner one-half day;
- (9) court appearance for hearing of employee's child one day;
- (10) child custody hearing one day per calendar year;
- (11) employee or employee's child is a victim of domestic violence three days per calendar year;

(12) in the case of serious illness or hospitalization of a parent or stepparent of the employee, when no one other than the employee can provide for the needs of the parent or stepparent, and, after notifying their supervisor – two days per calendar year.

(b) The employer will allow an employee reasonable leave of absence with pay for compassionate reasons where an immediate family member, defined for the purposes of this article, as an employee's parent, step-parent, spouse, child, grandchild, brother, sister, father-in-law, mother-in-law, or grand-parent is gravely ill and has a significant risk of death within two weeks. This leave will be provided once per family member and to a maximum of three days.

(c) The employer may grant an employee a leave of absence without pay for purposes other than those specified in this agreement.

13.4 Bereavement Leave

The employer will allow an employee reasonable leave of absence with pay for compassionate reasons under the following terms:

(a) In the case of death in the immediate family an employee not on leave of

absence without pay shall be entitled to special leave, at their regular rate of pay. The leave will include the date of the funeral or the date of death with, if necessary, an allowance for immediate return travelling time. Such leave shall normally not exceed five workdays.

(b) Immediate family is defined as an employee's parent, step-parent, spouse,

child, grandchild, brother, sister, father-in-law, mother-in-law, and any other relative permanently residing in the employee's household or with whom the employee permanently resides.

(c) In the event of the death of the employee's grandparents, son-in-law,

daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, the employee shall be entitled to special leave for one day for the purpose of attending the funeral.

(d) If an employee is on vacation leave at the time of bereavement, the employee hall be granted bereavement leave and be credited the appropriated number of days to vacation leave credits.

(e) Where established cultural or religious practices provide for ceremonial occasions other than the bereavement period in (a) above, the balance of the bereavement leave as provided in (a) above, if any, may be taken at the time of the ceremonial occasion.

13.5 Leave for Court Appearances

(a) Leave of absence with pay shall be granted to every employee, other than an employee already on leave of absence without pay or on education leave or under suspension, who is required:

- (1) To serve on a jury; or
- (2) By subpoena or summons, to attend as a witness in any proceeding held:
 - (i) In or under the authority of a court of justice or before a grand jury;
 - (ii) Before a court, judge, justice, magistrate or coroner;

(iii) Before a legislative body or any committee thereof that is authorized by law to compel the attendance of the witness before it; or

(iv) Before an arbitrator or umpire or a person or body of persons authorized by law to make an inquiry and to compel the attendance of the witness before it.

(b) An employee in receipt of regular earnings while serving at court shall remit to the employer all moneys paid by the court, except travelling and meal allowances not reimbursed by the employer.

(c) Time spent at court by an employee, in an official capacity, shall be at the regular rate of pay.

(d) Time spent in court actions arising from employment, requiring attendance at court, shall be with pay.

(e) Subject to the foregoing provisions, in cases where an employee is a plaintiff, a defendant or an accused, such leave to attend at court shall be without pay.

13.6 Leave for Medical and Dental Appointments

Where it is not possible to schedule medical and/or dental appointments or appointments with a registered midwife outside regularly scheduled working hours, reasonable time off for such appointments for employees or for dependent children shall be permitted, but where any such absence exceeds two hours, the full time of absence shall be charged to other entitlements such as General Leave (13.3), Hours of Work (9.1) or Annual Vacation (11.1), or other leave entitlement.

Medical, dental and/or registered midwife appointments include only those services covered by the BC Medical Services Plan, the Public Service Dental Plan, the Extended Health Benefit Plan and assessment appointments with the Employee and Family Assistance Program.

13.7 Leave Respecting Death of Child

The Employer will provide a leave of absence without pay of up to 104 weeks to an employee respecting death of child under the same conditions as, and in accordance with, the *Employment Standards Act* even if the *Employment Standards Act* does not apply to the employee. There will be no interruption in the accrual of seniority for regular employees or eligibility for benefits provided for under Article 14. Pension contributions will not be made.

13.8 Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child

The Employer will provide a leave of absence without pay of up to 52 weeks to an employee respecting disappearance of child under the same conditions as, and in accordance with, the *Employment Standards Act* even if the *Employment Standards Act* does not apply to the employee. There will be no interruption in the accrual of seniority for regular employees or eligibility for benefits provided for under Article 14. Pension contributions will not be made.

13.9 Compassionate Care Leave

An employee who is entitled to compassionate care benefits under the *Employment Insurance Act* is entitled to a leave of absence without pay of up to 27 weeks for the purpose of providing care or support to a gravely ill family member at risk of dying within 26 weeks. There will be no interruption in the accrual of seniority for regular employees or eligibility for benefits provided for under Article 14. Pension contributions will not be made.

13.10 Political Leave

(a) A staff member who is nominated as a candidate for municipal, provincial or federal election will be granted leave of absence without pay from the date of nomination until the day following the election or a shorter period requested by the staff member. The employee shall be provided benefits during this period, but must pay all premiums after 30 days of leave.

(b) If a staff member is elected to political office, one leave without pay shall be granted to a maximum of five years. They will return to active employment in a position at the same level that they left. If no position exists, a staff member may exercise rights under Clause 16.8.

(c) If the staff member is unsuccessful and is not elected, they will return to active employment in the position that they left.

ARTICLE 14 - HEALTH AND WELFARE

14.1 Medical Services Plan

The employer shall pay 100% of the regular premium for basic medical insurance for those regular employees and their dependents who choose to be so covered under a plan approved by the Medical Services Commission of British Columbia.

14.2 Dental Plan

The employer provides the same dental coverage as applies to Association members in the GLP unit. If the coverage now available to the employer through the government health and welfare plans is no longer available to the employer, the union and the employer will meet to negotiate a replacement policy.

14.3 Extended Health Care

The employer provides the same extended health care coverage as applies to Association members in the GLP unit. If the coverage now available to the employer through the government health and welfare plans is no longer available to the employer, the union and the employer will meet to negotiate a replacement policy.

On a without prejudice basis, the employer will reimburse employees for the cost of laser eye surgery, to a maximum of \$500 per eye in lieu of vision care for the period of time where the vision care entitlement is equivalent to the monetary value of the surgery. Employees will submit receipts for reimbursement directly to the employer. Spouses/dependents are not eligible for this benefit. The employer will be entitled to recover 50% of the cost of the surgery from an employee who has been reimbursed for laser eye surgery and who resigns their employment within 24 months of the date of surgery.

Any invoices submitted to the extended health care carrier for vision care for an employee who has taken advantage of this benefit, within the period of time defined above, will render this clause null and void.

14.4 Health Savings Account

Effective January 1, 2023, a Health Savings Account (HSA) shall be provided in the amount of \$1550 per calendar year, for each employee who qualifies for benefits under Clause 14.3. Additional \$100 increases will come into effect January 1, 2024 and January 1, 2025.

The HSA will be subject to Canada Revenue Agency rules and requirements, including its definition of eligible expenses.

14.5 Insurance

The employer provides group life insurance under the same plan as applies to Association members in the GLP unit. Benefits are equivalent to three times the employee's annual salary with a current minimum of \$100,000. Plan has optional dependent insurance with a payout of \$10,000 for a covered spouse and \$5,000 per dependent child. If the coverage now available to the employer through the government health and welfare plans is no longer available to the employer, the union and the employer will meet to negotiate a replacement policy.

In addition, the employer provides private group insurance affording the following benefits:

(a) Basic life insurance equal to one times annual earnings, rounded to the next \$1,000, up to a maximum of \$500,000. Proof of insurability must be provided by the employee and approved by the insurer for any amount over \$95,000;

(b) Insurance against accidental death equal to one times annual earnings or the amount that premiums have been paid on, rounded to the next \$1,000, up to a maximum of \$500,000;

(c) Dependent life insurance at \$5,000 for an employee's spouse and \$2,500 for each child.

Coverage under items (a) and (b) is rounded to the nearest \$1000 dollars.

14.6 Weekly Indemnity/Salary Maintenance/Long-Term Disability

(a) The provisions set out in paragraph (b) apply to employees on the first day of the month coincident with or next following the day he or she completes two months of continuous employment.

During the initial period of employment, until such time as a new employee is covered by the provisions of paragraph (b), the employee is entitled to sick leave on the basis of a maximum one-half day for every 35 hours of work completed. This entitlement ceases and may not be carried over once the employee is covered under the provisions of paragraph (b).

(b) Employees are covered by weekly indemnity insurance against short-term illness which provides 67% of weekly earnings to a maximum \$575. Coverage is applicable the first day of absence due to accident and the eighth day of absence due to sickness, all to a maximum of 26 weeks.

During short-term injury or illness, the employer also provides supplementary benefits. For the first 17 weeks of weekly indemnity benefits, the employer pays the difference between the employee's weekly indemnity benefit and 100% of their basic salary. For the 18th through the 26th weeks of benefits, the employer pays the employee the difference between weekly indemnity benefit and 75% of basic salary.

A part-time employee is entitled to sick benefits for the number of hours the employee was scheduled to work on the day(s) she or he is sick, except where the employee works on an on-call basis, and a day displaced by illness is rescheduled.

(c) Employees pay the premium costs for weekly indemnity coverage, but receive a corresponding salary supplement, as provided under Clause 16.2.

(d) In the event the carrier declines to cover an employee for any part of weekly indemnity coverage, the employer provides supplementary coverage so that the employee suffers no reduction in coverage. In such cases the employee pays to the employer whatever premium costs would have been paid to the carrier.

(e) The employer provides long-term disability coverage under the same plan as applies to Association members in the GLP unit. If the coverage now available to the employer through the government health and welfare plans is no longer available to the employer, the union and the employer will meet to negotiate a replacement policy.

(f) Coverage provided under this article is for legitimate illness, injury or disability. The employer reserves the right to:

(1) require medical evidence of an employee's inability to work, and;

(2) deny coverage where adequate medical evidence is not provided. The employer agrees to pay for any medical documents that the employer requires; or where the insurance carrier requires such form in respect to a short-term disability claim up to a maximum of \$150 per employee, per year.

14.7 Pensions

Employees are required as a condition of employment to be enrolled in and make contributions to the Public Service Pension Plan.

14.8 Accident Insurance

The employer will provide 24-hour accident insurance to all employees to a maximum benefit of \$30,000 for loss of life.

14.9 Employee and Family Assistance Program

The employer will provide assessment, referral, and short-term counseling services through an employee and family assistance program, for up to a maximum of 12 sessions per year.

ARTICLE 15 - GENERAL CONDITIONS

15.1 Computer Display Terminals

When a majority of an employee's daily work time requires monitoring computer display terminals, such employees are entitled to have their eyes examined by an ophthalmologist or optometrist of the employee's choice on a biennial basis. The examination shall be at the employer's expense where costs are not covered by insurance.

15.2 Notice of Termination

An employee is required to give at least 30 days notice of the intention to resign their position. The Senior Labour Relations Officer is required to give 60 days notice.

15.3 Outside Work

Subject to the employer's prior agreement on scheduling of leave and to the reasonable employment expectations of the PEA being fully met and to there being no conflict between the outside work and the objectives of the PEA, employees may use their proper leave time for other work.

15.4 Indemnity

(a) Except where there has been flagrant or willful negligence on the part of an employee in the performance of their official duties, the employer agrees:

(1) Not to seek indemnity against an employee whose actions in the performance of their official duties result in a judgment against the employer;

(2) To pay any judgment against an employee, or former employee, arising out of the performance of their duties with the employer;

(3) To provide legal services and/or to pay approved legal costs incurred in the civil proceeding arising out of (2) above. Wherever practical the employer will consult with the employee on the naming of legal counsel.

(b) In order that the above provisions shall be binding upon the employer, the employee shall notify the employer immediately, in writing, of any incident or course of events which may lead to legal action against the employee and the intention or knowledge of such possible legal action is evidenced by any of the following circumstances:

(1) When the employee is first approached by any person or organization notifying the employee of intended legal action against them; or

(2) When the employee retains counsel in regard to the incident or course of events; or

(3) Where any investigative body or authority first notifies the employee of an investigation or other proceeding which might lead to legal action against the employee;

(4) When information first becomes known to the employee in the light of which it is a reasonable assumption that the employee would conclude that the employer might be the object of legal action.

15.5 Professional Development

(a) The employer and the union recognize the need for ongoing professional and career development. Applications for professional development leave will not be unreasonably refused.

(b) The employer shall provide professional development leave to meet the employer's operational requirements and the employee's development needs. Such leave may be initiated by either the employee or the employer.

(c) The employer shall pay registration fees, travel, hotel and meal expenses for employees whose attendance at professional development courses, workshops and meetings is approved. Travel and meal expenses shall be in accordance with the rates established in this collective agreement.

ARTICLE 16 - SALARIES AND ALLOWANCES

16.1 Salaries

Employees shall be paid in accordance with Schedule 1.

January 1, 2023

Increase rates of pay by a 25¢ per hour increase and a 3.24% GWI to be applied across all rates of pay.

January 1, 2024

Increase rates of pay by the annualized average of BC CPI over 12 months starting on March 1, 2022 to a minimum of 5.5% and a maximum of 6.75%. The difference between the 5.5% and 6.75% is a Cost of Living Adjustment.

In addition a 0.6% Pandemic Equivalency Adjustment (PEA) will be made to all rates of pay.

January 1, 2025

Increase rates of pay by the annualized average of BC CPI over 12 months starting on March 1, 2023 to a minimum of 2% and a maximum of 3%. The difference between the 2% and 3% is a Cost of Living Adjustment.

16.2 Salary Supplements

Employee salaries may be supplemented by various payments in lieu of or to offset the cost of benefits. These supplements are payable on the basis set out in Schedule 1A, Salary Supplements.

16.3 Overtime: Administrative Staff

Overtime compensation is compensated either in time or payment, at the employee's option. Overtime rates are as follows:

Туре	Rate
Hours in excess of 7.5 per day	1.5 times hourly rate of pay
Hours in excess of 9.5 per day	2.0 times hourly rate of pay
Hours on weekend or holiday	2.0 times hourly rate of pay

Administrative employees are entitled to a minimum of three hours overtime when called in after regular working hours, weekends, or holidays.

An administrative employee who wishes to work overtime must receive prior authorization from the Executive Director or his or her designate.

16.4 Overtime: Servicing Staff and Communications Staff

In lieu of direct compensation for overtime, servicing staff salaries are supplemented by a payment of 7% of base salary, calculated and paid semi-monthly. Communications staff receive a five per cent supplement in lieu of direct compensation for overtime worked.

Effective January 1, 2021 In lieu of direct compensation for overtime, servicing staff salaries are supplemented by a payment of 6.37% of base salary, calculated and paid semi-monthly. Communications staff salaries will be supplemented on the same basis by a payment of 4.55%.

Effective January 1, 2025 in lieu of direct compensation for overtime, communications staff salaries are supplemented by a payment of 6.37% of base salary, calculated and paid semi-monthly.

16.5 Travel Expenses

(a) The employer reimburses expenses incurred by an employee travelling on employer business. It is understood and agreed that the reimbursement for such travel shall not be less than as provided to Association members under the PEA's travel expense policy.

(b) Employees, required to work past 6:30 p.m. attending meetings in their local area, are eligible for the dinner allowance.

(c) An employee who travels by bicycle for the Employer's business shall be paid at the rate of 25¢ per kilometer to a maximum of 10 kilometers each way for a trip.

16.6 Substitution Pay

Substitution pay is not available to the Senior Labour Relations Officer.

Any other employee who is required and designated to substitute for a higher-paid employee for a period of at least one day, is paid at the rate in the higher-paid salary scale closest to 8% higher than the employee's normal rate of pay.

16.7 Layoff Benefits

Layoff is defined as elimination or any reduction in an employee's hours of work and the following provisions apply:

Employees are entitled to eight weeks notice of layoff, or to eight weeks salary in lieu of notice.

In addition to required notice, or pay in lieu of notice, an employee who is laid off for any reason will receive severance pay of one month's salary, pro-rated for partial years, for each year of service with the PEA, to a maximum of 18 months salary.

Layoffs will be determined in reverse order of seniority within job classification.

Severance benefits are payable only in the event that position(s) is (are) eliminated, not where an employee resigns or is discharged for cause or has their hours of work reduced.

In the event of change of office location of more than 50 kilometers, an employee may opt for severance. An employee must notify the employer of their intent to elect severance within 30 days of receiving notice of the change of office location. Benefits are conditional on an employee's affirming that the employer bears the employee no other obligation.

16.8 Layoff and Recall Options

- (a) Prior to layoff of regular employee(s) the employer will canvass employees to invite:
 - (1) Job sharing and/or alternation of work hours
 - (2) Resignation with severance to a maximum of 12 months salary
 - (3) Where eligible, early retirement
- (b) Upon receipt of layoff notice, an employee shall have the following options:
 - (1) Displacement into a position occupied by a more junior employee
 - (2) Elect recall for which seniority shall remain valid for one year
 - (3) Elect severance pay

An employee is required to indicate their choice of option within five working days of receipt of layoff notice.

- (c) Displacement shall occur within a job classification series in the following order:
 - (1) To a position of the same classification/salary level in the same geographic location
 - (2) To a position of a lower classification/salary level in the same geographic location
 - (3) To a position of the same classification/salary level in a different geographic location
 - (4) To a position of a lower classification/salary level in a different geographic location

Where an employee displaces into a position of a lower classification/salary level, the employee will receive "*red circle*" salary protection.

Where an employee relocates due to displacement, the employer will provide relocation assistance consistent with that available to Association members in the Government Licensed Professionals unit.

(d) Recall shall be in order of service seniority to a position within the job classification series that the employee occupied prior to layoff.

16.9 Salary Calculations for Partial Pay Period

The formulas for calculating a full-time employee's salary during an incomplete pay period are:

- (a) Monthly salary divided by 21.75 equals daily rate;
- (b) Monthly salary divided by 152.25 equals hourly rate.

16.10 Retirement

(a) An employee scheduled to retire and (i) to receive a pension under the Public Service Pension Plan, or (ii) who has reached age 55 and completed 10 years of service with the employer shall be granted full vacation entitlement for the final calendar year of service.

(b) An employee who meets the criteria described in (a) is entitled to take earned but unused vacation credits as paid leave immediately prior to retirement but before any earned leave as provided for under clause (c) below.

(c) An employee who meets the criteria described in (a) is entitled to an amount equal to one week's current salary for each full year of service. Partial years will be pro-rated. The employee may opt to take the allowance as equivalent paid leave immediately prior to retirement.

(d) Employees on leave under clause (b) are not eligible for benefits set out at clause 14.6. Employees on leave under clause (c) are not eligible for (i) the salary supplement as set forth in Clause 16.4, or (ii) benefits other than those set out at Clauses 14.1, 14.2, 14.3, 14.5 and 14.8.

16.11 Computer or Home Office Equipment Purchase

Regular employees, who have completed their probationary period, will be entitled to an advance of up to the actual cost or \$3,600 whichever is the lesser for the purpose of purchasing personal computer or home office equipment. Home office purchases will be approved in advance by the Executive Director.

The advance shall be repaid to the employer through payroll deduction at a minimum rate of \$50 per pay period. The entire advance must be repaid in24 months. Employees can only receive one advance every two years. Employees must show proof of purchase of the equipment within 30 days of purchase to be eligible for the advance.

If an employee's employment is terminated prior to complete repayment of the advance, the employer shall deduct any amounts outstanding from any payment owed by the employer to the employee.

16.12 Parking

Parking shall be reimbursed for days when employees use their personal vehicle on employer business. Any parking costs incurred while performing required work outside of scheduled hours will be reimbursed. Employees who purchase monthly parking are entitled to claim the hourly or daily rate to a maximum of the monthly charge for the parking.

16.13 Vehicle Insurance

In the event of an accident or theft while on the employer's business, the employer will reimburse the deductible portion of the insurance claim to a maximum of \$500 in any 12-month period. Should an employee choose not to go through the insurer, the employer will pay the equivalent portion referred to above, upon receipt of the repair bill or proof of loss.

If a Labour Relations Officer or Senior Labour Relations Officer uses their vehicle on employer business, the employer will pay the difference between pleasure and business use upon proof of insurance. It is the employee's responsibility to maintain adequate levels of coverage for third party liability.

16.14 Law Society Fees

(a) The employer will pay the fees to the Law Society of British Columbia including the fee for membership in the Canadian Bar Association, BC Branch for employees who are required to hold the license by the employer.

(b) Subject to (c) below, an employee on a leave of absence greater than three months will convert their membership status with the Law Society of British Columbia to non-practicing status for the duration of the leave. The employee will authorize the reimbursement to the employer of the fees reimbursed by the Law Society of British Columbia.

(c) In the event an employee elects to maintain practicing status while on leave of absence, they shall reimburse the employer for the difference in fees between practicing and non-practicing status for the period during which the employee is on leave. The employee is responsible for arranging their own insurance as required through the Law Society of British Columbia for the leave period.

(d) If a lawyer is newly hired or recalled and:

(1) their Law Society fees for the year have been paid the employer will reimburse the lawyer for a pro rata portion of the fees the employee has paid; or

(2) their fees for the year have not been paid, the employer will pay the Law Society fees for the year.

(e) If the employee terminates their employment, the employer shall be entitled to recover a pro-rated portion of the fees from the employee.

16.15 Fitness Equipment Purchase

Regular employees, who have completed their probationary period, will be entitled to an advance of up to the actual cost or \$2,500 whichever is the lesser for the purpose of purchasing personal fitness equipment.

The advance shall be repaid to the employer through payroll deduction at a minimum rate of \$50 per pay period. The entire advance must be repaid in 24 months. Employees can only receive one advance every five years. Employees must show proof of purchase of the equipment within 30 days of purchase to be eligible for the advance.

If an employee's employment is terminated prior to complete repayment of the advance, the employer shall deduct any amounts outstanding from any payment owed by the employer to the employee. The employee shall reimburse the employer for any outstanding balance.

16.16 Access to Employee Advance for Computer and Fitness Purchase

Employees may elect to access only one advance at a time under either Clause 16.11 or 16.15.

16.17 Remote Work Assessment

Employees working from home will be entitled to an ergonomic assessment as provided by the Employer to establish their home workspace.

ARTICLE 17 - BARGAINING UNIT WORK

17.1 Bargaining Unit Work

The employer undertakes to continue the following practices:

(a) The employer and the union agree that work that is normally performed by members of the bargaining unit will not be assigned to contractors outside the bargaining unit. This does not restrict the employer from using outside resources to perform work for the employer when either workload or lack of expertise of existing staff makes the assignment necessary.

(b) The employer agrees that members of the Professional Employees Association will not be assigned or permitted to perform work normally performed by members of the union. This is not meant to restrict after-hours committee work.

ARTICLE 18 - TERM OF AGREEMENT

18.1 Term of Agreement

Unless otherwise provided, this agreement shall be binding and remain in full force from January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2025. This agreement shall continue from year to year thereafter unless either party exercises its right to commence collective bargaining as provided for in the Statutes of the Province of British Columbia. If negotiations extend beyond the anniversary date of the agreement, both parties will adhere fully to the provisions of this agreement, during the period of bona fide collective bargaining.

18.2 Effective Date

Except as otherwise stipulated in individual articles, this agreement shall come into effect on the date of ratification.

Signed this 6th

_day of _____

20_²³

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE EMPLOYER:

Se

Scott McCannell Executive Director Professional Employees Association

Shawna LaRade (Feb 2, 2023 12:42 PST)

Shawna LaRade President Professional Employees Association

Al Cherene Pa ner (Feb 6, 2023 09:51 PST)

Cherene Palmer First Vice-President Professional Employees Association SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE UNION:

Sean Antrim (Feb 6, 2023 10:39 PST)

Sean Antrim Negotiator BCUWU

Brett Harper (Jan 30, 2023 16:40 PST)

Brett Harper Vice-President Vancouver Island BCUWU

#023 17:07 PST)

Jordana Whetter Bargaining Committee BCUWU

(Feb 6, 2023 13:48 PST) Sonva Sa

Sonya Sabet-Rasekh President BCUWU

SCHEDULE 1 SALARIES

Monthly Salary Ranges

POSITION	Jan. 1, 2023	*Jan. 1, 2024	*Jan. 1, 2025
Senior Labour Relations Officer	\$10,684.96		
Labour Relations Officer/Labour Relations and Member Development Officer	\$ 9,961.87		
Senior Communications Officer	\$ 8,119.13		
Communications Officer	\$ 7,332.45		
Administrative Assistant			
Job Rate	\$ 5820.53		
Entry Rate	\$ 5,640.95		
Administrative Assistant Part-time (Hourly) Job Rate	\$38.23		
Entry Rate	\$37.05		
,	,		

Should the employer create a new job, or if the duties of an existing position change substantially the parties agree to discuss the appropriate salary. Failure to agree invokes the grievance/arbitration procedure.

*January 1, 2024 and January 1, 2025 rates will be calculated as per Clause 16.1 and LOU 7 once the cost of living amount is available.

SCHEDULE1-A SALARY SUPPLEMENTS

Employees are entitled to be paid supplements to salary on the following basis.

A. OVERTIME SUPPLEMENT

In lieu of direct compensation for overtime, servicing staff salaries are supplemented by a payment of 7% of base salary, calculated and paid semi-monthly. Communications staff receive a 5% supplement in lieu of direct compensation for overtime worked.

Effective January 1, 2021 In lieu of direct compensation for overtime, servicing staff salaries are supplemented by a payment of 6.37% of base salary, calculated and paid semi-monthly. Communications staff salaries will be supplemented on the same basis by a payment of 4.55%.

Effective January 1, 2025 in lieu of direct compensation for overtime, communications staff salaries are supplemented by a payment of 6.37% of base salary, calculated and paid semi-monthly.

B. WEEKLY INDEMNITY SUPPLEMENT

All employees receive a supplement equivalent to the premium cost paid by them for weekly indemnity coverage. This supplement corresponds exactly to the premiums actually paid by individual employees.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 1 Re: Deferred Salary Leave Plan

The employer will establish a Deferred Salary Leave Plan effective January 1, 2002.

1. Description

(a) The purpose of the Deferred Salary Leave Plan is to afford employees the opportunity of taking up to one year leave of absence with part pay by deferring salary for four years and taking leave in the fifth year. It is expressly understood that the Plan is not established to provide benefits to employees on or after retirement.

(b) The employer and employees may enter into any variation of this Plan by mutual consent of the two parties involved, provided that such variations meet the requirements of paragraph 6801(a) of the Income Tax Regulations.

2. Qualifications

(a) An employee who has completed five years employment in a regular position with the employer shall be eligible to take leave under the Plan.

(b) An employee must complete an additional five years from the completion of any leave under this memorandum before qualifying for a second leave.

3. Application

(a) In order to participate, an employee must make written application to the employer, stating the date when the employee wishes to participate in the Plan. Eligible applicants will complete the agreed-to Memorandum.

(b) Proposals for leave will be considered in order of seniority of the applicants.

4. Payment Formula and Leave of Absence

The payment of salary, fringe benefits and the timing of one year leave of absence shall be as follows:

(a) In the first four years of the Plan, an employee will be paid 80% of their proper salary range. The remaining 20% of annual salary, based on a calendar year, will be accumulated and this amount shall be paid to the employee during the year of absence. Interest earned in the Plan on behalf of the participating employee shall be paid at the end of each calendar year. Any such interest paid to a participant under the Plan represents employment income rather than income from property.

Accordingly, Form T4 should be used by the financial institution to report the interest and the usual tax withholdings and remittances must be made.

(b) Employees' health and welfare benefits will be maintained by the employer during their leave of absence.

Any benefits tied to salary level shall be structured according to actual salary paid.

(c) It is understood that employment insurance premiums will be based on the gross salary during the deferral period and will not be payable during the leave period, and that Canada Pension Plan (CPP) deductions will be based on net salary during both the deferral period and the leave period. Where the deferred amounts are paid to the employee by a trustee, that trustee is deemed

to be an employer of the employee by the *CPP Act* and is therefore required to pay the employer's contribution in respect of that employee.

(d) The leave of absence may be taken only in the fifth year of the Plan. Under special circumstances, exceptions may be granted, however, the deferral period must not exceed six years in total from the date the salary deferrals commenced, and the leave of absence must commence immediately after the deferral period.

(e) With the approval of the employer, an employee may select some alternative method of deferring salary other than that specific in (a) above; however, the annual deferral amount may not exceed 33% of the salary the participating employee would normally receive in one year.

5. Terms of Reference

(a) The leave of absence shall occur according to and be governed by this Memorandum rather than other leave provisions in the collective agreement.

(b) to a participant on leave shall be in equal monthly installments. These installments shall start two weeks after commencement of the leave. The final installment shall be the balance of any moneys retained by the employer for the participant of the Plan.

(c) Upon no less than six months' notice, a participant may request a one year postponement of the start of the leave requested in the initial application.

(d) On return from leave, an employee shall return to the position held immediately prior to going on leave for a period that is not less than the period of the leave of absence.

(e) An employee participating in the Plan shall be eligible, upon return to duty, for any increase in salary and benefits that would have been received had the one year leave of absence not been taken.

(f) Employees who are laid off will be required to withdraw from the Plan and will be paid a lump sum adjustment for any monies deferred to the date of withdrawal, plus any interest earned. Repayment shall be made within sixty calendar days of withdrawal from the Plan.

(g) Prior to taking their leave of absence, an employee may withdraw funds from the Plan only in the case of financial or other hardship (except where otherwise provided). Upon withdrawal any monies accumulated plus interest owed, will be repaid to the employee within sixty calendar days of notification.

(h) Should an employee die while participating in the Plan, any monies accumulated plus interest owed at the time of death, will be paid to the employee's estate.

(i) It is understood that all amounts under the Plan will be paid to the participating employee no later than the end of the first taxation year of the employee that commences after the end of the deferral period.

(j) There will be no interruption of a leave once it has commenced.

6. Salary

Throughout the period of the leave of absence, the employee may not receive any salary or wages from the employer or from any other person or partnership with whom the employer does not deal at arm's length, other than:

- (a) Amounts which were deferred under the Plan;
- (b) The reasonable fringe benefits that the employer usually pays to or on behalf of employees.

7. Fringe Benefits

(a) During a leave of absence, the responsibility for payment of premiums for fringe benefits for a participant shall be established in this agreement. Where a participant is obligated to pay the cost of any fringe benefit during the period of leave, the employer will pay such costs on behalf of the participant and deduct the money otherwise payable to the participant from the fund.

(b) The employer will make pension deductions for submission to the relevant pension plan and notify the Administrators of the Plan the contributions and salary levels for the purpose of pension adjustment reporting.

8. Termination or Amendment of the Plan

No amendment shall be made to the Plan which will prejudice any tax ruling which is applicable to the Plan prior to the amendment.

9. Employee Agreement

I have read the terms and conditions of the Memorandum of Agreement governing the Deferred Salary Leave Plan, and I understand it. I agree to participate in the Plan subject to its rules and on the following specific conditions:

Enrolment Date: My enrolment in the Plan shall become effective January 1, 202_.

Year of Leave: I propose to commence my leave ____(yy/mm/dd), upon approval of the employer, for a period of __ months (up to one year).

Funding of the Leave: To accomplish the funding of the leave] hereby authorize the following amounts be withheld from my current compensation effective the date of my enrolment in the Plan:

First Year ______ % Number of additional years_____

Second Year _____ % Percentage Per Additional Year _____

Third Year _____

Fourth Year _____

The participant may, by written notice to the employer prior to January 1 in any year, alter the percentage amounts for that and any subsequent year subject to Section 4(e).

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 2 Re: Supplemental for Leaves

A. Supplemental Unemployment Benefit Plan Maternity Leave

- 1. The objective of the Supplemental Unemployment Benefit (SUB) plan is to supplement the employment insurance benefits received by eligible employees who are on approved maternity leave pursuant to Clause 12.1.
- 2. The maximum number of weeks for which SUB Plan benefits are payable is 17 weeks.
- 3. The duration of the Plan will be from the date one month after the date compliance authorization for the Supplemental Unemployment Benefit Plan is received from Employment and Immigration Canada to the date of expiration of this agreement.
- 4. Employees do not have a right to SUB Plan payments except supplementation of Employment Insurance Benefits for the period of unemployment as specified in this Plan.
- 5. The employer will inform the Canada Employment and Immigration Commission of any changes in the plan within 30 days of the effective date of the change.
- 6. Payment in respect of guaranteed annual remuneration or in respect of deferred remuneration or severance pay benefits are not reduced or increased by payments received under the plan.

B. Supplemental Unemployment Benefit Plan Parental Leave

- 1. The objective of the Supplemental Unemployment Benefit (SUB) plan is to supplement the employment insurance benefits received by eligible employees who are on approved parental leave pursuant to Clause 12.3.
- 2. The maximum number of weeks for which SUB Plan benefits are payable is 35 weeks for those who opt for the standard parental leave.
- For those who opt for extended parental leave, the maximum number of weeks for which SUB plan benefits are payable is 61 and the amount of those payments is equivalent to the overall amount the employee would have received with 35 weekly payments calculated under the standard parental leave allowance.
- 3. The duration of the plan will be from the date one month after the date compliance authorization for the Supplemental Unemployment Benefit Plan is received from Employment and Immigration Canada to the date of expiration of this agreement.
- 4. Employees do not have a right to SUB Plan payments except supplementation of Employment Insurance Benefits for the period of unemployment as specified in this Plan.
- 5. The employer will inform the Canada Employment and Immigration Commission of any changes in the plan within 30 days of the effective date of the change.
- 6. Payment in respect of guaranteed annual remuneration or in respect of deferred remuneration or severance pay benefits are not reduced or increased by payments received under the plan.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 3 Re: Amalgamation and Merger

The Professional Employees Association remains committed to its role as an independent representative of professionals across the Province of British Columbia.

In the event the Professional Employees Association decides to pursue amalgamation or merger with another union or organization, the employer will provide notice to the union as soon as reasonably possible.

The parties will meet to discuss the potential impact on bargaining unit members with a view to preserving their terms and conditions under the existing Labour Agreement.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 4 Re: Qualification Period for Health and Welfare Benefits

The parties agree that where the PEA is permitted under benefit plan terms, it may waive the waiting or qualification period for extended health benefits for new, regular employees. Factors considered by the PEA include, but are not limited to recruitment of new employees from other unions and other recruitment challenges.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 5 Re: Cell Phone Policy

The Employer agrees to adjust their cell phone policy to include all regular staff. Should Canada Revenue Agency determine that the cell phone policy plan service entitlements constitute a taxable benefit, the employee shall be responsible to address tax considerations.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 6 Re: Friday Office Closure Pilot

The parties agree to close the PEA office on Fridays between June 30, 2023 and September 1, 2023 (inclusive) on a trial basis. All staff will work remotely on Friday during this period under the provisions of the PEA Work from Home Policy.

The trial will enable opportunity to evaluate the impact of a Friday office closure on PEA membership. The parties will discuss measures to determine the success of the pilot closure no later than March 31, 2023 and will meet no later than October 31, 2023 to discuss the outcomes of the trial office closure.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 7 Re: Cost of Living Adjustments

The parties agree that in determining the level of any Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) that will be paid out starting January 1, 2024 and January 1, 2025 respectively, the "annualized average of BC CPI over twelve-12 months" in Schedule 1 of the collective agreement means the Latest 12-month Average (Index) % Change reported by BC Stats in March for British Columbia for the 12 months starting at the beginning of March two years preceding that year and concluding at the end of the following February. The percentage change reported by BC Stats that will form the basis for determining any COLA increase is calculated to one decimal point. The Latest 12-month Average Index, as defined by BC Stats, is a 12-month moving average of the BC consumer price index of the most recent 12 months. This figure is calculated by averaging index levels over the applicable 12 months. The Latest 12-month Average % Change is reported publicly by BC Stats in the monthly BC Stats Consumer Price Index Highlights report. The BC Stats Consumer Price Index Highlights report released in mid-March will contain the applicable figure for the 12 months concluding at the end of February.

For reference purposes only, the annualized average of BC CPI over 12 months from March 1, 2021 to February 29, 2022 was 3.4%.